1977

# Marion W. Beckstrom v. Vere Beckstrom and Norman Laub : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action by Plaintiff to determine rights in real property and for partition, and an action by Cross Plaintiffs for specific performance, or, failing that, for monetary damages for breach of contract.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff was granted judgment and partition, receiving one-half of the disputed property and one-half of the appurtenant water rights. Cross Plaintiffs and Appellants were granted one-half of the real property and one-half of the appurtenant water rights, and were awarded attorney fees

in the amount of \$500.00, appraisal costs of \$250.00, and costs of Court.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek an order of this Court striking the \$5,000.00 damage figure granted Appellants by the trial court and remanding the case for entry of judgment in favor of Appellants and against Cross Defendants and Respondents in the amount of \$19,767.13, with interest at the judgment rate from and after 15 March 1977 until fully paid, and further, Appellants seek an order of this Court striking the lower court's award of \$500.00 in attorney fees to Appellants and remanding the matter to increase the award of attorney fees to the sum of \$800.00 for Appellants' counsel's services through trial, and requiring the trial court to determine and award to Appellants a reasonable fee for the use and benefit of their counsel in the conduct of this case on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

By written contract dated 14 December 1972, Cross Defendants and Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom agreed to sell to Appellants and Cross Plaintiffs Normand D. Laub and Barbara R. Laub, 80 acres of land located in Iron County, State of Utah, with its appurtenant water rights, for the sum of \$20,000.00, principal and interest at 6% per annum payable annually on the 1st day of November of each succeeding year (R 111, Exh. D-14). At the time of

executing said contract, title to the land and water was vested in Plaintiff and Respondent Marion W. Beckstrom and Vere Beckstrom, as tenants in common (T 7:8-15). The Uniform Real Estate Contract was prepared by Spencer Beckstrom, a lawyer in California, the son of Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom (T 59:17-29). The description on the contract had been given to Spencer Beckstrom by Vere Beckstrom (T 60:5-10). At all times thereafter, Appellants Normand D. Laub and Barbara R. Laub were current in their obligations to Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom (T 61:14-28). Appellants Laub, by reason of representations of Respondent Vere Beckstrom, believed that Vere Beckstrom owned the land and water concerned (T 82:16-19; 84:10-20). Vere Beckstrom did not at any time tell Appellants Laub that Respondent Marion W. Beckstrom owned any interest in the property (T 85:2-4). Appellants Laub did not conduct a title search concerning the property in dispute, relying upon the word of Respondent Vere Beckstrom (T 89:9-19).

On 30 September 1974, Plaintiff and Respondent Marion W. Beckstrom instituted this action (R 1). Appellant Norman Laub was served with process on 14 November 1974 (R 8). After so being given notice of the claim of Marion W. Beckstrom to an interest in the land, Appellants Laub made their checks under the contract payable to Marion W. Beckstrom and Vere Beckstrom (Exh. P-6, P-7, P-9). Despite the fact that the name of Marion W. Beckstrom appeared on such checks,

Vere Beckstrom endorsed thereto not only his own name, but the name of Marion W. Beckstrom, and cashed the checks (T 12:1-30; 13:1-10). On 1 November 1976, the total amount due and owing from Appellants Laub to Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom was the sum of \$15,000.00, being principal (T 90:24-30; 91:1-8). On 25 January 1977, Appellants Laub made tender of payment to Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, of the total amount due and owing on the purchase price for the land (Exh. D-16). On 26 January 1977, Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, through their then counsel of record, John W. Palmer, refused to deliver title to the land to Appellants Laub, free and clear of the claim of Marion W. Beckstrom (Exh. D-15). At the time of tender, Appellants Laub were ready, willing and able to perform their obligation of payment to Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, Appellants Laub having arranged for a loan from their bank to cover such payment (T 86:26-30; 87:1-5).

At trial, the uncontested testimony of expert witness Ken William Esplin, which was admitted and accepted by the court, was to the effect that the value of the land and water together was the sum of \$20,000.00 on 14 December 1972, and that the value of the same had risen to \$70,200.00 by the time of the refusal of Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom to convey the same to Appellants (T 96:6-26; 97:15-27). Uncontested evidence as to the amount



of a reasonable attorney fee to be awarded to Appellants Laub was that such amount was the sum of \$800.00 (T 100:6-19). Despite such uncontested evidence, after trial the lower court failed to follow the applicable rule of damages, failed to award Appellants Laub damages other than awarding them one-half of the real property and appurtenant water rights and determining that Appellants Laub owed nothing further to Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, and awarded said Appellants attorney fees in the sum of only \$500.00. The trial court further ruled that Appellants Laub had a duty to research title to the property in dispute, and that Appellants Laub breached such duty by not conducting such search.

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN RULING THAT DEFENDANT, CROSS PLAINTIFF AND APPELLANT NORMAND D. LAUB HAD A DUTY TO INVESTIGATE THE STATUS OF TITLE TO THE PROPERTY, AND THAT HE BREACHED A DUTY IN NOT SO DOING.

The trial court ruled that Appellant Normand D. Laub had a duty to research the status of title to the property in dispute, and that he breached a duty in not so doing (T 105:18-23; and R 113). Such ruling is contrary to law.

The applicable portion of the contract between Appellants Laub and Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom reads:

"The seller on receiving the payments herein reserved to be paid at the time and in the

manner above mentioned agrees to execute and deliver to the buyer or assigns, a good and sufficient warranty deed conveying the title to the above described premises free and clear of all encumbrances . . . "

It is clear that Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom had no duty to obtain or transfer marketable title until such time as Appellants Laub had complied fully with their obligations under the contract. Such obligations were not completed in full until 25 January 1977, when Appellants Laub tendered full performance and payment to Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom.

Where a seller enters into an executory contract, the law permits him to have defective title at the time he enters into the contract and it is sufficient if he is able to convey good title when the time for conveyance arrives. See 77 AmJur 2d 408, Vendor and Purchaser, Section 234. Also see Marlowe Investment Corporation v. Radmall, 485 P.2d 1402, 26 Utah 2d 124 (1971); Leavitt v. Blohm, 357 P.2d 190, 11 Utah 2d 220 (1960); Woodard v. Allen, 265 P.2d 398, 1 Utah 2d 220 (1953); and Naylor v. Jolley, 111 P.2d 142, 100 Utah 130 (1941).

Had Appellant Normand D. Laub conducted a title search prior to tender of full payment, such search would merely have shown that Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom did not hold marketable title to the land, at time when they were not required to hold marketable title.

law will not require a futile act. Such being the case, Appellant Laub owed no duty to Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom to conduct such title search, and the only duty involved in this case was that of Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom to convey good and marketable title to Appellants Laub when tender of payment and performance was made, which duty was breached by failure to convey. Even had Appellants Laub known of the non-marketable state of the title of Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, Appellants Laub could not have required said Respondents to perfect such title prior to full performance or tender thereof by Appellants Laub. Upon such tender by Appellants Laub, Respondents Beckstrom failed in their duty.

By reason of all of the foregoing, the trial court erred in ruling as it did, and in denying damages to Appellants Laub based upon such erroneous ruling.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO APPLY THE PROPER MEASURE OF DAMAGES AND FAILED TO AWARD TO APPELLANTS LAUB, DAMAGES IN THE AMOUNT OF \$19,767.13.

With respect to a vendee's damages by reason of a vendor's failure to convey, the general rule is that the vendee is entitled to recover the fair market value of the land at the time of breach, less any amounts of the purchase money remaining unpaid. 77 AmJur 2d 648, Vendor and Purchaser, Section 519, states, in part:

*Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

"The general rule is laid down in many cases that the purchaser is entitled, as general damages for the wrongful failure or refusal of the vendor to convey, to recover the difference between the actual value of the land and the agreed price, together with any payments he may have made, or the value of the land deducting the amount of the purchase money unpaid. These statements are substantially the same in effect and result in giving the purchaser as damages the benefit of his bargain, in case the land is worth more than the price agreed upon. This is very generally recognized where the vendor cannot be said to have acted in good faith, as where, after the making of the contract, he disables himself by his own act or neglect from being able to convey, or where, having the ability to do so, he refuses to convey because of an advance in the value of the land or otherwise, or where he had knowledge of his want of or the defects in his title." (Emphasis supplied.)

See also 11 A.L.R.2d 719, at 721; Reed v. Wadsworth, 553 P.2d 1024, at 1035 (Wyo. 1976); and Abond v. Adams, 507 P.2d 431, 84 N.M. 683 (1973).

Utah law follows the general rule. In Utah, the measure of damages where a vendor has breached a land sale contract is the market value of the property at the time of the breach less the contract price to the vendee. See Bunnell v. Bills, 368 P.2d 597, 13 Utah 2d 33 (1962); and Andreasen v. Hansen, 335 P.2d 404, 3 Utah 2d 370 (1959).

Respondent Marion W. Beckstrom and Respondent Vere Beckstrom are brothers. They took title to the land and water in question as tenants in common. Respondent Vere Beckstrom knew of such fact. Further, when Appellants Land made the 1974, 1975 and 1976 payments by check to the order

of Vere Beckstrom and Marion W. Beckstrom, Respondent Vere Beckstrom cashed such checks, forging the endorsement of Marion W. Beckstrom. Clearly, Appellants Laub are entitled to recover damages from Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, based upon the fair market value of the land and water at the time of breach on the part of Respondents Beckstrom. The only question is the amount which should be awarded to Appellants Laub.

The unrebutted, uncontested evidence before the Court, which the Court admitted and accepted, showed that the fair market value of the 80 acres of land, with appurtenant water, at the time of breach was the sum of \$70,200.00. At the time of trial, there still remained due and owing on the contract the sum of \$15,000.00 principal, with interest thereon at 6% per annum from and after 1 November 1976 until the date of trial, which simple calculation shows to be the sum of \$332.87.

Where a rule of law has been established for the measurement of damages, it must be followed by the finder of fact. Bunnell v. Bills, supra; and 15 AmJur, Damages, Section 366, page 805. The lower court did not follow the appropriate rule of law, but rendered only a "Bishop's Judgment

In this case, the court is bound by the only evidence before it, which is that the value of the 80 acres of land with appurtenant water is the sum of \$70,200.00, and that the total amount due and owing by Appellants Laub

to Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Marion S. Beckstrom as of the date of trial of this action was the sum of \$15,332.87. Since the court must follow the rule of law established for determining damages by the Utah Supreme Court, the simple calculations below show that Appellants are entitled to recover damages from Respondents Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom in the amount of \$19,767.13.

<u>Item</u>	<u>Amount</u>
1. Value of 40 acres of land at time of breach, with appurtenant water, reached by dividing total value of \$70,200.00 in half:	\$35,100.00
2. Less \$15,000.00 principal due and owing on contract dated 12/14/72:	15,000.00
3. Less interest upon principal amount of \$15,000.00 at 6% per annum, from and after 11/1/76 through 3/15/77, the day of trial of this action:	<u>332.87</u>
4. Total:	\$19,767.13

Appellants Laub are entitled to the benefit of their bargain, and the value of such bargain is the sum of \$19,767.13. To rule as the trial court ruled is to say that the seller may sell land on contract, and then when the price rises, refuse to convey to his buyer, and resell the property at a higher price, the buyer having run the risk of the property depreciating in value. This Court should overrule the trial court, and remand this matter to the trial court for an award of damages to Appellants Laub in the sum of \$19,767.13.

### POINT III

THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY AWARDING APPELLANTS LAUB ONLY \$500.00 FOR THE SERVICES OF THEIR ATTORNEY.

The inadequate or excessive taxation of attorney fees thwarts justice. There is general agreement not only that fees of attorneys should be adequate, but also that fees should be determined on the basis of a number of factors. 57 A.L.R. 3d 475, 2(a). The Code of Professional Conduct of the American Bar Association, adopted substantially in its entirety by the Utah State Bar Association, sets forth in DR2-106(b) many of the criteria to be followed by courts in awarding attorney fees. DR2-106(b) states, in part:

"Factors to be considered as guides in determining the reasonableness of a fee include the following: (1) The time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal services properly. (2) The likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer. (3) The fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services. (4) The amount involved and the results obtained. (5) The time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances. (6) The nature and length of the professional relationship with the client. (7) The experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services. (8) Whether the fee is fixed or contingent."

The amount of time and labor expended by the attorney is of major importance. In 57 A.L.R. 3d 475, 2(a), we read:

"It appears to be universally agreed that the amount of time and labor expended by the attorney on behalf of his client is, in general, one of the most important factors, if not the most important factor, considered by the courts in determining what constitutes a reasonable fee in a particular case. . . ."

The real test, however, is the value of the service performed by the attorney for his client. The Supreme Court of Kansas has said on this point:

"The real test in the allowance of attorney fees is the value of the services performed by the attorney on behalf of his client; and the court in determining the amount thereof may consider labor, time and trouble involved, as well as the extent of services rendered and the nature and importance of the litigation; also the responsibility imposed on such counsel; the amount of money involved; the skill and experience called for in the performance of the services; the professional character and the standing of the attorney; and the results secured." (Attebery v. MFA Mutual Insurance Company, 191 Kansas 178, 388 P.2d 647 (1963).)

Applying the "value of service" test in the above case, the Kansas court rejected the contention that the amount in controversy should control the fee awarded and granted attorney fees of \$400.00 in an action to recover the value of an automobile under collision coverage, where the verdict for the plaintiff was only \$300.00 and the insurer tendered \$272.50.

The Utah Supreme Court found \$1,056.00 not excessive attorney fees in successfully foreclosing a \$6,068.00 mortgage where the defendant set up as a defense a breach of a separate contract and a counterclaim for specific performance.



Wallace v. Build, Inc., 402 P.2d 699, 16 Utah 2d 401 (1965).

The Supreme Court has also felt that an attorney fee of \$2,500.00 is not unreasonable when involved in a summary judgment concerning a trust deed securing a note of \$27,500.00 for the time and amount of work was taken in evidence.

Security Title Company v. Payless Builders Supply, 407 P.2d 141, 17 Utah 2d 179 (1965).

This Court has made the following statement, as early as 1915, about what constitutes a reasonable fee:

"By a 'reasonable fee', no doubt, is meant one which is reasonable under all the facts and circumstances of each case. What is reasonable, therefore, in a large measure at least, must depend upon the amount in controversy, the labor, and responsibility imposed upon the attorney in obtaining judgment, as these things may have arisen from the issues presented and tried. If an attorney is required to do no more than to prepare the formal pleadings and decree in a default case, a smaller sum, no doubt, would be reasonable, than in a contested case, . . ." (Jensen v. Lichtenstein, 145 P. 1036, 45 Utah 320 (1915); emphasis supplied.)

As a tool of justice for all concerned, therefore, the adequacy of attorney fees should always be considered where allowed in order to insure that the aggrieved will obtain adequate representation. Attorneys cannot hope to be compensated fully for the value of their time and work, but they must not be limited to such small fees that they cannot afford to accept representation.

The applicable provision of the contract in question states:

"The buyer and seller each agree that should they default in any of the covenants or agree-

ments contained herein, that the defaulting party shall pay all costs and expenses, including a reasonable attorney's fee, which may arise or accrue from enforcing this agreement, or in obtaining possession of the premises covered hereby, or in pursuing any remedy provided hereunder or by the statutes of the State of Utah whether such remedy is pursued by filing a suit or otherwise." (Emphasis added.)

The uncontested, unrebutted testimony before the Court, by which the Court is bound, shows that counsel for Appellants Laub, in preparing for and conducting trial, spent 20 hours of time. Further, testimony is to the effect that the agreed upon rate of \$40.00 per hour is reasonable and current within the area of practice of Appellants' counsel. Where such testimony exists unrebutted, it is an abuse of discretion on the trial court to reduce the \$800.00 to the sum of \$500.00, particularly where Appellants Laub should recover more than \$19,000.00 in damages from Respondent Vere Beckstrom and Elizabeth S. Beckstrom, in addition to termination of all duty on the part of Appellants Laub to continue making payments under the land sales contract. The facts and circumstances of this case show that Appellants Laub should be awarded the sum of \$800.00 for the use and benefit of their counsel, \$800.00 being more than reasonable for bringing a case of this nature through trial.

#### POINT IV

APPELLANTS LAUB ARE ENTITLED TO AN ORDER OF THIS COURT AWARDING APPELLANTS ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that attorney fees

on appeal are discretionary. State v. Shonka, 279 P.2d 709, 3 Utah 2d 121 (1955). Neighboring jurisdictions deem attorney fees allowable on appeal. Amos Flight Operations, Inc. v. Thunderbird Bank, 540 P.2d 1244 (Ariz. 1975); San Luis Obispo Bay Properties, Inc. v. Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 104 Cal.Rptr. 733, 28 Cal.App.3d 556 (1972). In view of the time involved in preparing and submitting this appeal, Appellants Laub reasonably request that this Court issue its order remanding this case back to the trial court to determine a reasonable attorney fee to be awarded Appellants' counsel for services provided on appeal.

### CONCLUSION

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