1977

Marion W. Beckstrom v. Vere Beckstrom and Norman Laub : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Plaintiff-Respondant should be estopped from asserting title to certain property referred to herein as the "Hunt Property".

MARION and VERE BECKSTROM were brothers. When MARION returned from the service in 1949, VERE, who was married to ELIZABETH, made the down payment of \$2,000.00 on an 80 acre tract of ground on the desert near Beryl, Utah. They raised the balance of \$12,000.00 to purchase the property

by borrowing it from ELIZABETH's brother, Dr. RODNEY SNOW. This was done, at least partially, if not primarily, to provide a home (Tr. P72, LL12-24) and an occupation for MARION, but also to earn a profit, according to the testimony of VERE and ELIZABETH. To secure the loan from SNOW, a mortgage was placed upon 25 acres of property owned by MARION, inherited from his parents, together with land adjacent to it, owned by VERE.

While ELIZABETH taught school, VERE operated the Pine Valley property belonging both to himself and to MARION and MARION moved onto the 80 acres of desert land referred to as the "Hunt Property".

Thereafter, an additional 80 acres, referred to as the "Lewis Property" was purchased for MARION to operate together with the Hunt Property making a total of 160 acres on the desert.

MARION, however, spent much of his time, according to his testimony, working for the railroad, sorting potatoes and attending "G.I. School" (Tr. P20, LL18-22) which had nothing to do with making productive the 160 acres he was supposed to be farming.

After ten years on the property, during which time he did not contribute anything to the payments on the mortgage and did not contribute anything to the payments on property taxes, MARION abandoned both the Hunt and the Lewis Property

During that time, VERE, who was operating the small acreage at Pine Valley, part of which was owned by him and part by MARION, while ELIZABETH, his wife, taught school, paid all of the payments on the mortgage except the final one of approximately \$1,500.00 and paid all of the taxes on the Hunt and Lewis Property. MARION freely acknowledged that VERE and ELIZABETH made those payments.

In 1959, when MARION left the property near Beryl, he did so proclaiming in no uncertain terms that he wanted nothing more to do with farming the property and that it was no good and that he wasn't interested in preserving it by even paying the taxes on it. (Tr. P22, LL27-29; P22, LL26-28; P26, L19; P29, LL11-15; P48, LL7-9; P62, LL12-13; P67, LL22-25)

While MARION was operating the property, the well caved in and was not repaired or replaced by MARION, so that after he abandoned the property, VERE, who then began to operate the Hunt Property himself, was forced to drill a well on the property at a cost of \$2,300.00 which he also paid entirely himself. (P68, LL1-6)

However, of great significance at the time of MARION's abandoning the Hunt Property is his concurrent abandonment of the Lewis Property and what happened to it. He had been operating both 80 acre parcels jointly when he gave up and moved off. Though the Court sustained some

objections to questions concerning the Lewis Property and thereby prevented a complete disclosure of the evidence which would, in the Defendant-Appellant's opinion, have supported the position that there was an estoppel in pais, i.e. that MARION is estopped from asserting title to the property in question, some limited evidence concerning it was admitted and it is significant.

MARION testified that when he abandoned the two properties, both Lewis and Hunt, he had a buyer for them by the name of JOE ROMERO, "before the Lewis place went back". (Tr. P23, LL3-6) He stated that VERE refused to sell the properties and he added that one MR. LEWIS did foreclose on the parcel which he had sold to MARION and VERE. (Tr. P32, LL28-29)

VERE, however, testified that the Lewis Property was indeed sold to avoid foreclosure to JOE ROMERO at that time (Tr. P52, LL24-30; P53, LL1-8) MARION had washed his hands of the whole affair, except to suggest that JOE ROMERO was interested in purchasing the property. VERE insisted JOE ROMERO only had an interest in purchasing the Lewis Property, not the Hunt Property. (Tr. P53, LL3-8)

It would appear logical, since the Lewis Property was sold to ROMERO according to VERE, that it was done to avoid the threat of foreclosure by LEWIS and to avoid the

sometimes devastating effects on VERE and his wife as well as MARION, of a foreclosure proceeding.

However, the Hunt Property posed an entirely different situation to VERE and ELIZABETH.

To that time in 1959, they had paid all the payments on the mortgage and on taxes themselves. There remained only \$1,500.00 left in order to own it free and clear. There was not the pressing need to sell it to save it from foreclosure that there was with the Lewis Property and they did not want to sell it - still believing, in spite of MARION's poor track record over the past 10 years, that the property had some value.

Had MARION had the interest, at that time, in the property and particularly in selling it, that he displayed 14 years later when this suit was filed, he could have filed a partition action then to force "an accounting" or to force sale.

Obviously, however, he did not because he considered the land worthless and even more important had contributed nothing to acquiring it or preserving it to that point. He does now argue ex post facto that the proceeds from the Pine Valley property, part of which belonged to him, went to the payment of the mortgage and taxes on the Hunt Property. However, it is just as arguable that the funds used to pay the taxes and mortgage are as much or more the result of the

hard work and efforts of VERE as they were the fruits of that bare land.

MARION did not produce anything to contribute to the taxes and mortgage payments off of a total of about 4 times more land than that which VERE was operating.

MARION abandoned the property, let the Lewis Property be either sold or foreclosed upon with no argument or interest in its disposition.

MARION did pay the final payment of approximately \$1,500.00 on the mortgage, but in spite of his present protestations to the contrary, it is apparent that he did so primarily to remove the encumbrance against his Pine Valley Property rather than to preserve the Hunt Property.

Furthermore, shortly after abandoning the property, VERE confronted MARION and, after ten years of paying the taxes on the Hunt Property himself as well as the taxes on the Pine Valley property, part of which was owned by MARION, asked MARION if he was going to pay the taxes which were due on the Hunt Property. MARION said he was not and as a matter of fact, did not! MARION further testified that he knew and understood that if taxes were not paid, the property could and would be taken by the taxing authority in lieu of taxes. Nevertheless, he either did not care, which is the contention of the Defendant-Appellant, or he could not pay the taxes. In either event, had it not been for VERE's coming to the

rescue again and paying those taxes for the next 14 years, the county would, no doubt, have taken the property and MARION would have had nothing to be claiming now!

VERE, on the other hand, assumed the burden of paying taxes from 1959 to 1974, in addition to having paid them the previous ten years, assumed the expense and obligation of drilling a well at a cost of \$2,300.00 to himself, maintained water rights, leased the property when he was himself incapacitated physically and did all of that which was necessary to retain and maintain the property under the honest impression that MARION had abandoned any interest or claim in the property.

Again, it is extremely important to note, that had VERE not done these things, there would have been no property to sell to the Cross-Complainant, NORMAND LAUB and there would have been no property for MARION to now claim is half his!

Furthermore, VERE, after operating the property for a couple of years and then becoming incapacitated physically by a severe stroke, leased it for several years thereafter, finally sold the property for the sum of \$20,000.00, a figure which Cross Complainant-Appellant's expert witness testified was a fair and reasonable value for the property when it was sold in 1972. (Tr. P96, LL23-26)

The Defendant-Appellant, from the time a Motion to Amend his Answer to allege an affirmative defense, to-wit,

that the Plaintiff be estopped from claiming an interest in the subject property, has maintained and attempted to show that an estoppel in pais existed in spite of the Court's refusal to even consider that principal of law, as will be more fully reviewed in paragraph III infra.

In 1880, the United States Supreme Court announced perhaps the leading case pertaining to Equitable Estoppel or Estoppel in Pais as it applies to a situation similar to the situation that exists in the instant case. The facts in that case, Dickerson vs. Colgrove, 100 U.S. 578, 25 L. Ed. 618, were that one MORTON purchased land by Warranty Deed from JOHN KLINE and his wife, SARAH, daughter of MICAHAH CHANCEY, who had owned it until his death. MORTON, after occupying the land for several years, learned of the existence of a brother of SARAH KLINE and a son of MICAHAH CHANCEY, one EDMUND CHANCEY, and wrote to him asking if he made any claim to the land. EDMUND CHANCEY wrote back to his sister, SARAH, saying he did not make a claim and disavowing any intention of ever making a claim to the land.

Thereafter, however, EDMUND CHANCEY did make a claim and conveyed by Quit-Claim Deed the property to one DICKERSON who then filed a suit for ejectment against the Defendants, COLGROVE, successor to MORTON.

The Supreme Court of the United States decided against the Plaintiff, finding that he was estopped by his

deeds and actions from later asserting a title or claim to the property he had once disavowed.

The Court reflected upon the effect upon MORTON of CHANCEY's letter disclaiming an interest:

"He was lulled into security. He took no measures to perfect title, nor to procure any redress from the Klines."

The Court then proceeded to elaborate upon the principal involved:

"The estoppel here relied upon is known as an equitable estoppel or estoppel in pais....The vital principal is, that he who, by his language or conduct, leads another to do what he would not otherwise have done, shall not subject such person to loss or injury by disappointing the expectations upon which he acted."

The Court adds:

"This remedy is always so applied as to promote the ends of justice. It is available only for protection, and cannot be used as a weapon of assault. It accomplishes that which ought to be done between man and man, and it is not permitted to go beyond this limit. It is akin to the principal involved in the limitation of actions, and does its work of justice and repose where the statute cannot be invoked." (Emphasis Added)

This quote, referring to the ends of justice as it does, is most appropo to the instant case wherein MARION, having contributed little or nothing to the purchase and maintenance of the property through the ten years he occupied it, and then having refused to pay any taxes thereafter to

preserve, all because he did not consider the property to be of any value at that time, should not, at this late date, be able to come in 14 years later, when historical circumstances have created value that did not appear to be there previously, i.e. the increased scarcity of water and consequent increase in value of water, and exploit and take advantage of VERE's foresight and VERE's efforts and expenses in preserving and maintaining the property.

Of course, one might argue that in the Dickerson case there was a letter from CHANCEY disavowing any claim to the property which constitutes a writing and that such a writing is not present in the instant case. The Court, in the Dickerson case, however, cited a case Faxton vs. Faxton, 38 Mich 159 wherein the Court said:

"The Complainant may have estopped himself without any positive agreement if he intentionally led Defendants to do or abstain from doing anything involving labor or expenditure to any considerable amount by giving them to understand that they should be relieved from the burden of the mortgages."

In other words, the Court is saying that one, by his action, may cause a second to rely upon that action and as a result, that second person should not be penalized at a later date for having relied upon the acts of the first party.

In the instant case, VERE BECKSTROM relied upon what appeared to be a distinct disavowal of any interest in the

Hunt Property by his brother, MARION. MARION had left the property, stated he wanted nothing to do with it, had similarly abandoned companion property and allowed it to either be sold to prevent foreclosure or it had been foreclosed and had refused to pay taxes. VERE then went to much labor and expense and assumed the responsibilities of paying taxes and the other concurrent responsibilities of ownership of land in order to preserve that property believing MARION would never express an interest in it thereafter.

The Dickerson case Supra, also cited Harkness vs. Toulmin, 25 Mich 80 and Truesdail vs. Ward, 24 Mich 117 and made this further comment:

"There is no rule more necessary to enforce good faith than that which compels a person to abstain from asserting claims which he has induced others to suppose he would not rely on. The rule does not rest on the assumption that he has obtained any personal gain or advantage, but on the fact that he has induced others to act in such a manner that they will be seriously prejudiced if he is allowed to fail in carrying out what he has encouraged them to expect."

In the present case, VERE BECKSTROM relied upon the acts and statements of his brother, MARION, and supposed that he made no claim and had no interest in the Hunt Property. Relying upon that, VERE operated the property himself for 2 years, including assuming all the costs and expenses of maintaining and improving it, leased it for several years after he was physically incapacitated from operating it himself and ultimately sold the property for \$20,000.00.

Now, however, MARION makes a claim to that property, and as a result of the finding of the Court below that MARION is entitled to a one-half interest in that property, VERE is faced with a potential claim of up to \$35,000.00 by the Cross Complainant-Appellant for damages, based upon the current value of the property of \$75,000.00, since, under the ruling of the lower court, VERE only had a one-half interest in the property to convey. This hardly seems a just reward for his faith, diligence and sacrifice in attempting to preserve the property by paying taxes upon it and maintaining and improving the property over the many years that he did so, all at a time when MARION had no faith in it and had disavowed any willingness to assist in the payment of the taxes or any other of the expenses and costs of maintaining and improving the property!

In the Dickerson case Supra the Court makes the comment that Justice Cooley, in deciding one of the Michigan cases, either Harkness or Tenesdail, -- "was inclined to doubt the sufficiency of the proof but said finally:

"His (the Mortgagee's) assurances undoubtedly had been relied upon and acted upon by the Defendants, and, considering the great lapse of time without any claim under the mortgages on the part of the Complainant, I am not disposed to dissent from the conclusion of my brethren."

This, again, is exactly the situation that has existed in the instant case. The Defendant, VERE, has, in

fact, relied upon the representation of MARION and has certainly taken steps that he would not have taken had he believed that his brother, MARION, claimed an interest in the property. It would, no doubt, have been very easy for VERE to have obtained the signature of MARION on the Contract of Sale for \$20,000.00 in 1972, which was then the admitted value of the property, if, in fact, MARION had, as he now insists, asked VERE to sell the property on a previous occasion once, only 2 years earlier. VERE did not seek MARION's signature because he did not believe that MARION claimed any interest in the property, or that having failed to contribute to its maintenance, was not entitled to any interest, even if he did claim it.

The Dickerson case Supra further commented in reference to another case, Evans vs. Snyder, 64 Mo. 516:

"But the Supreme Court of the state held that where they stand silently by for years while the occupant was making valuable and lasting improvements on the property and redeeming it from the lien of the ancestor's debts, his heirs would be estopped from afterwards asserting their claim."

In Holsteen vs. Thompson, 169 N.W. 2d 554, the Court enunciates the rule involved herein as follows:

"One who, by his renunciation or disclaimer of title to property has induced another to believe and act thereon to his prejudice is estopped to assert such title. Lucas vs. Hart, 5 Iowa 415, 419; McDowell vs. McDowell, 141 Iowa 286, 290, 119 N.W. 702, 703, 31 L.RANS, 176 (Title Quieted in Plaintiff based

on estoppel against Defendant); Koep vs. Koep, 146 Iowa 179, 182, 123 N.W. 174, 175; Thom vs. Thom, 208 Minn. 461, 294 N.W. 461, 464 (facts similar to case et bar)"

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